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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT 0 8ORI

CASE NO.: 2 2 6 @é&

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, g E W E_ E ma ﬁ

Plaintiff,

v.
RICARDO H. GOLDMAN,

Defendant.
/

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. The Commission brings this action to enjoin Ricardo H. Goldman from violating
the antifraud, securities registration, and broker-dealer registration provisions of the federal
securities laws.

2. From May 2004 through February 2006 (the “Relevant Period”), Goldman was
the sole managing member of E Trade Fund LLC (“E Trade Fund” or the “Company”), a Florida
limited liability corporation that operated as an unregistered day-trading firm. Goldman and E
Trade Fund made material misrepresentations and omissions to investors in connection with E
Trade Fund’s day-trading operation concerning the risks associated with day trading,
compensation Goldman received, and the insurance that protected investors.

3. In addition, Goldman and E Trade Fund made material misstatements and
omissions about the safety and security of purported certificates of deposit they offered and sold

to investors nationwide through websites Goldman and E Trade Fund directed or controlled.
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These certificates of deposit were never registered with the Commission. Additionally, neither
Goldman nor E Trade Fund was registered with the Commission as a broker or dealer.

4. Through his conduct, Goldman violated Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c), and 77q(a); and Sections
10(b), 15(a)(1) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15
U.S.C. § 78j(b), 780(a)(1) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

II. THE DEFENDANT

5. Goldman, 56, resides in Miami, Florida, and held himself out to the public as the
principal of E Trade Fund, a Florida limited lability company that maintained its operations in
Miami, Florida. Although the State of Florida administratively dissolved the Company in
September 2006, Goldman organized another Florida limited liability company using the same
name in March 2008.

II1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d), and
22(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d), and 77v(a); and Sections 21(d), 21(e),
and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa.

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Goldman, and venue is proper in the
Southern District of Florida, because Goldman’s acts and transactions constituting violations of
the Securities Act and the Exchange Act occurred in the Southern District of Florida. In
addition, Goldman resides in the Southern District of Florida and E Trade Fund’s principal place
of business during the Relevant Period was in the Southern District of Florida.

8. In connection with the conduct alleged in this Complaint, Goldman, directly and

indirectly, singly or in concert with others, made use of the means or instrumentalities of
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interstate commerce, the means or instruments of transportation and communication in interstate
commerce, and the mails.

IV. E TRADE FUND’S DAY-TRADING OPERATION

9. Goldman formed E Trade Fund in May 2004. During the Relevant Period, E
Trade Fund also did business under the name “A Trade Fund.” E Trade Fund is not affiliated
with E¥*TRADE FINANCIAL Corp., a broker-dealer registered with the Commission, and E
Trade Fund was never registered with the Commission.

10. During the Relevant Period, Goldman and E Trade Fund offered and provided
day-trading services to the investing public. E Trade Fund allowed traders to actively day trade
securities with very little investment capital.

11. E Trade Fund traders did not trade through individual broker-dealer accounts.
Rather, Goldman opened a master securities trading account for E Trade Fund at Integrity
Trading, Inc., d/b/a RML Trading (“Integrity”), a Washington-based broker-dealer that cleared
its securities transactions through Penson Financial Services, Inc. (“Penson”). E Trade Fund’s
master trading account was approved for options and margin trading.

12. Goldman then set up sub-accounts at Integrity that were linked to E Trade Fund’s
master trading account, through which investors who participated in the Company’s trading
program could buy and sell stock online.

A. Solicitation of Investors

13. Goldman targeted potential investors for E Trade Fund’s day-trading program
primarily through seminars he gave on day-trading strategies. Goldman advertised these

seminars in at least one Spanish-language, Miami-based newspaper and on the Internet.
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14, Goldman held the seminars in Miami, New York, and throughout South America,
and usually conducted them in Spanish.

15. Goldman told potential traders that under the E Trade Fund program they would
be day trading with a group of traders, and would therefore be better protected against certain
losses or risks. For instance, he told investors they would never have margin calls or trading
restrictions.

16. Goldman also explained to potential traders in the seminars that they could sign
up for E Trade Fund’s program with only a minimal investment, and immediately have buying
power of up to four times their initial deposit with no restrictions.

17.  The website Goldman used to solicit traders in the seminars for his day-trading
program contained a biography that touted his professional background and experience. The
biography stated Goldman had “over 15 years of experience corporate training [sic],
infrastructure and development of financial business.” It also described Goldman as a
“professional trader,” who “has built an excellent reputation due to his abilities of forecast [sic]
market movements.” Goldman omitted to disclose on the website, however, that in 1994 he was
criminally convicted for grand theft and forgery in Miami, Florida.

B. Opening a Trading Account

18. Goldman required investors who joined E Trade Fund’s day-trading program to
fill out and execute certain account opening documents, including a “Trader Agreement”
between the individual and E Trade Fund. The day traders could fund their accounts with an
initial deposit of as little as $1,000.

19.  The Trader Agreement and the Company’s website stated the trader’s account

would be protected by the Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”) for up to
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$500,000, and further protected by insurance that Penson carried for up to $24.5 million. This
statement appeared directly under the signature line of the Trader Agreement.

20. Under the terms of the Trader Agreement, E Trade Fund’s day traders received
100 percent of the net profits and were responsible for 100 percent of the losses generated from
the trading in their respective sub-accounts. The agreement also provided that E Trade Fund had
“absolute discretion” to limit a trader’s activity and liquidate any trading positions at any time.

21. According to the Trader Agreement, day traders agreed to trade securities on
behalf of E Trade Fund, and the company agreed to maintain a capital deposit account on their
behalf. The agreement referred to the traders as “independent contractors” of E Trade Fund.

22. In reality, traders did not trade securities on behalf of E Trade Fund or provide the
Company with any other service. Once a trader signed the Trader Agreement and paid an initial
deposit, Goldman created a sub-account at Integrity.

23. Goldman did not provide Integrity with these Trader Agreements and Integrity
treated E Trade Fund as a single customer with numerous sub-accounts.

24.  Accordingly, the investors’ sub-accounts were ultimately linked to E Trade
Fund’s master securities trading account and to other investor sub-accounts, including
Goldman’s own personal trading account.

25. Over approximately two years, E Trade Fund and Goldman opened about 105
sub-accounts on behalf of day traders, and traders deposited approximately $2.15 million.

C. Structure of the Trading Program Fees

26. Goldman provided each trader with independent access to his or her sub-account

via a login name and password.
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27. The traders were also able to use Goldman’s Miami office to conduct their
trading. This location had about 10 computer stations set up, with roughly 10 to 20 traders using
the facility on a weekly basis.

28. Day traders paid E Trade Fund a fixed commission rate on all trades executed in
their sub-account, typically $12.95 per trade, which was reflected in each trader’s Trader
Agreement.

29. Integrity charged and collected these commissions; however, at the end of the
month, Integrity rebated part of those commissions to the master trading account based on the
total trading volume in the E Trade Fund accounts.

30. For example, Integrity only charged $2.95 per trade when combined trading of all
E Trade Fund accounts exceeded 2000 for the month. Integrity then credited the difference
between the initial charge (e.g. $12.95 per trade) and final reduced charge based on the trade
volume ($2.95 per trade) to the master trading account ($10 per trade).

31. During the Relevant Period, these commission rebates generated revenue for
Goldman and E Trade Fund of approximately $260,000.

32. During the Relevant Period, Goldman transferred funds, including more than
$280,000 for his compensation, from the master trading account to a bank account over which he
had exclusive control.

D. Operation of the Trading Program

33. In a little more than a year after E Trade Fund began operating, sub-account

holders generated more than $266 million in securities transactions.
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34. Goldman often transferred funds among the various sub-accounts and master
trading account in order to avoid margin calls in other sub-accounts. This allowed traders to
circumvent certain regulatory requirements and continue trading.

35. Ultimately, traders who participated in E Trade Fund’s day-trading program
incurred significant trading losses amounting to approximately $1.06 million of the $2.15 million
they originally invested.

36. Integrity forced Goldman to close the sub-accounts in or about February 2006.
For more than 65 traders who had positive balances in their sub-accounts, Goldman returned
their money.

37. However, nine traders had incurred substantial trading losses and had negative
account balances. These nine sub-accounts combined for an approximate $417,000 shortfall.

38. Since the only actual customer account was the master trading account, for which
Goldman was responsible, Integrity required Goldman to cover the shortfall. In order to offset
those losses, Goldman fraudulently diverted funds belonging to two investors.

39. Specifically, Goldman diverted approximately $285,000 from one trader’s sub-
account to cover part of the shortfall, and also used $117,000 in funds belonging to another
investor that had been in Goldman’s own sub-account to cover most of the remaining portion of
the shortfall.

V. ETRADE FUND’S OFFERING OF CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT

40. At the same time Goldman ran the day-trading operation, he offered and sold

other investments in E Trade Fund, which he characterized as certificates of deposit.
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41. Goldman offered these investments to the public via an affiliated website,

www.atradefund.com, which emphasized these investments offered secured capital and

guaranteed returns.

42. The certificate of deposit application form (“Application”) bore E Trade Fund’s
name and logo, and offered a guaranteed rate of return for a minimum investment of $10,000.

43. Over the time period E Trade Fund offered these certificates, the offered rate of
return ranged from a 5% to 10% annual return on a 6-month certificate to a 7% to 12% annual
return on a 12-month certificate.

44. The Application falsely stated the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”) insured the certificates for up to $100,000. These investments, however, were not
issued by nor were the investor funds deposited with a federally insured bank.

45. Rather, Goldman used the funds raised from the sale of the purported certificates
to maintain additional reserves for the E Trade Fund day-trading operation.

46. At least two investors invested about $317,000 in E Trade Fund’s certificates of
deposit. The investors were existing traders in the E Trade Fund’s day-trading program.

47.  Although bank records indicate Goldman eventually repaid those investors their
principal along with interest using funds generated through the trading program, the investors’
funds were not secure and rates of return were not guaranteed because payment depended on E
Trade Fund generating revenue.

VI. MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS

48. Goldman signed the documents opening the E Trade Fund master securities trading
account. This documentation expressly stated E Trade Fund could open sub-accounts for viewing

purposes only, but for all other purposes, they would be treated as a single customer account.
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49, Thus, Goldman knew, or was severely reckless in not knowing, that E Trade Fund
was the only actual customer of Integrity and Penson.

50. Despite this knowledge, Goldman represented to each trader that SIPC protected
their individual accounts for up to $500,000 each. In reality, SIPC protected only one account — the
E Trade Fund master securities trading account - for up to $500,000.

S1. Additionally, Goldman’s statement to investors that they would be better
protected by trading with a group was not true. In fact, investors who participated in E Trade
Fund’s trading program were exposed to, and incurred, much greater risks than if they had traded
alone through a registered broker-dealer because they were exposed to the trading losses of the
other participants in E Trade Fund’s trading program.

52. Furthermore, Goldman charged investors a fixed commission per trade, which he
disclosed in the Trader Agreement. However, he omitted to disclose that E Trade Fund received
commission rebates from Integrity based on the group’s monthly trading volume and those
rebates were E Trade Fund’s only source of revenue.

53. Additionally, Goldman omitted to disclose to traders that he was criminally
convicted for grand theft and forgery in 1994 even though E Trade Fund’s website touted
Goldman’s professional experience and reputation.

54. Furthermore, Goldman represented the certificates of deposit were FDIC insured.
Goldman knew, or was severely reckless in not knowing, this statement was false because these
instruments were never issued by, or affiliated with, any federally regulated bank or financial
institution.

55.  Additionally, Goldman’s representations on the www.atradefund.com website that

the certificates offered “Secured Capital, Guarantee Return” were false because Goldman used
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the funds he received from the sales of the certificates to fund E Trade Fund’s high-risk day-
trading operation. Thus, investor capital was not secure and returns were not guaranteed.

VII. GOLDMAN ACTED AS AN UNREGISTERED BROKED-DEALER

56. During the Relevant Period, Goldman operated E Trade Fund as an unregistered
broker-dealer, without an exemption from registration.

57. Goldman was E Trade Fund’s sole managing member. Goldman and E Trade Fund
solicited securities transactions by seeking investors for the day-trading program through
Goldman’s seminars, affiliated websites, and Spanish-language media.

58. Goldman and E Trade Fund also provided day-trading services, including creating
and maintaining sub-accounts for the traders and providing traders with access to software to place
securities orders.

59. Furthermore, Goldman handled the traders’ funds, which were used for securities
transactions, and allowed the traders to leverage their trades against the master trading account.

60. Finally, Goldman benefited from operating E Trade Fund, retaining more than
$280,000 he transferred from the master trading account into a bank account over which he had
exclusive control.

COUNT 1

Sales of Unregistered Securities in Violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the
Securities Act

61. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 60 of its Complaint.

62.  No registration statement was filed or in effect with the Commission pursuant to
the Securities Act with respect to the securities and transactions described in this Complaint, and
no exemption from registration exists with respect to the securities and transactions described in

this Complaint.

10
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63. From at least May 2004 through about February 2006, Goldman, directly and
indirectly: (a) made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication n
interstate commerce or of the mails to sell securities, through the use or medium of a prospectus
or otherwise; (b) carried securities or caused such securities to be carried through the mails or in
interstate commerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, for the purpose of sale or
delivery after sale; or (¢) made use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the
use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise, without a registration statement having been filed
or being in effect with the Commission as to such securities.

64. By reason of the foregoing, Goldman violated, and, unless enjoined, is reasonably
likely to continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and
77¢e(c).

COUNT 11
Fraud in Violation of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act

65.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 60 of its Complaint.

66.  From at least May 2004 through about February 2006, Goldman directly and
indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate
commerce and by use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, as described in this
Complaint, knowingly, willfully or recklessly employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud.

67. By reason of the foregoing, Goldman, directly and indirectly, violated and, unless
enjoined, is reasonably likely to continue to violate Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act, 15

U.S.C. § 77q(a).

11
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COUNT 111
Fraud in Violation of Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act

68.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 60 of its Complaint.

69. From at least May 2004 through about February 2006, Goldman, directly and
indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate
commerce and by the use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities: (a) obtained money or
property by means of untrue statements of material facts and omissions to state material facts
necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading; or (b) engaged in transactions, practices and courses of business which
operated as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers and prospective purchasers of such securities.

70. By reason of the foregoing, Goldman, directly and indirectly, violated and, unless
enjoined, is reasonably likely to continue to violate Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3).

COUNT IV
Fraud in Violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act

71. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 60 of its Complaint.

72. From at least May 2004 through about February 2006, Goldman, directly and
indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of the mails in
connection with the purchase or sale of securities, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a)
employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts
and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices

and courses of business which operated as a fraud upon the purchasers of such securities.

12
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73. By reason of the foregoing, Goldman directly or indirectly violated and, unless
enjoined, is reasonably likely to continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C.
§ 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.

COUNT V

Failure to Register as a Broker-dealer in Violation of
Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act

74.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 60 of this Complaint.
75. From at least May 2005 through about February 2006, Goldman by engaging in
the conduct described above, made use of the mails or means or instrumentalities of interstate
commerce to effect transactions in, or to induce or attempt to induce the purchase or sale of,

securities.

76. During the relevant period, Goldman was neither registered with the Commission
as a broker-dealer in accordance with Exchange Act Section 15(b), 15 U.S.C. § 78o(b), nor
associated with a Commission registered broker-dealer.

77. By reason of the foregoing, Goldman directly or indirectly violated and, unless
enjoined, is reasonably likely to continue to violate Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 780(a)(1).

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
I

Declaratory Relief

Declare, determine and find that Goldman committed the violations of the federal

securities laws alleged herein.

13
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IL.

Permanent Injunctive Relief

Enter a Final Judgment of Permanent Injunction, restraining and enjoining Goldman from
violating Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Securities Act, and Sections 10(b), 15(a)(1) and
Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act, as indicated above.

II1.

A Sworn Accounting

Issue an Order requiring Goldman to file with this Court sworn written accountings
identifying:

(1) All assets, liabilities and property currently held, directly or indirectly, by or for
the benefit of Goldman, including, without limitation, bank accounts, brokerage accounts,
investments, business interests, loans, lines of credit, and real and personal property wherever
situated, describing each asset and liability, its current location and amount;

(2)  All money, funds, securities, property (real and personal), assets and income
received by Goldman, or for his direct or indirect benefit, at any time from May 1, 2004 through
the date of such accounting, describing the source, amount, disposition and current location of
each of the items listed; and

3) The names and last known addresses of all bailees, debtors, and other persons and
entities that currently are holding the assets, funds or property of Goldman.

IV.
Disgorgement
Issue an Order directing Goldman to disgorge all ill-gotten gains, including prejudgment

interest, resulting from the acts or courses of conduct alleged in this Complaint.

14
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V.
Penalties

Issue an Order directing Goldman to pay a civil penalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d).

VI

Further Relief

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.

VIL

Retention of Jurisdiction

Further, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this
action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that it may enter, or
to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional relief within the
jurisdiction of this Court.

September 25, 2008 Respectfully submitted,

By: %M // %f»«-\//'

Brian K. Barry, Esq.

Senior Trial Counsel
Florida Bar No. 0632287
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6382
Email: barryb@sec.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800

Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 982-6300

Facsimile: (305) 536-4154

15
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